
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 
 
 
WYNDHAM VACATION 
OWNERSHIP, INC., WYNDHAM 
VACATION RESORTS, INC., 
WYNDHAM RESORT 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, 
SHELL VACATIONS, LLC, SVC-
AMERICANA, LLC and SVC-HAWAII, 
LLC,  
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. Case No:  6:19-cv-1908-Orl-78EJK 
 
SLATTERY, SOBEL & DECAMP, LLP, 
DEL MAR LAW GROUP, LLP, 
CARLSBAD LAW GROUP, LLP, JL 
''SEAN” SLATTERY, PANDORA 
MARKETING, LLC, PANDORA 
SERVICING, LLC, 
INTERMARKETING MEDIA, LLC, 
KENNETH EDDY, WILLIAM WILSON 
and RICH FOLK, 
 
 Defendants. 
 / 
 

ORDER 

This cause comes before the Court on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike Defendants Slattery, 

Sobel & Decamp, LLP; Del Mar Law Group, LLP; Carlsbad Law Group, LLP; and JL “Sean” 

Slattery’s (collectively, the “Slattery Defendants”) Affirmative Defenses (the “Motion”), filed 

March 3, 2020. (Doc. 55.) The Slattery Defendants filed their joint response (Doc. 68), and thus 

the Motion is ripe for review. Upon consideration, the Motion is due to be granted in part and 

denied in part. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs instituted this action on October 4, 2019. (Doc. 1.) Four months later, on January 

21, 2020, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint, wherein they bring the following causes of 

action against the named Defendants: false advertising, in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1); contributory false advertising, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1); tortious 

interference with contractual relations; violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices 

Act; and civil conspiracy to commit tortious interference. (Doc. 36.) The facts underlying these 

claims are predicated upon the named Defendants’ participation in the timeshare exit business. 

According to the Amended Complaint, the named Defendants worked in concert to offer a service 

to timeshare owners that purportedly terminates the contractual relationship between the timeshare 

owner and the company that sold the timeshare. (Id. ¶¶ 86, 107–109.) Generally, lawyers and 

marketing groups collaborate in a successful timeshare exit business. (Id. ¶¶ 88–91.) Among the 

named Defendants, the Slattery Defendants served as the “law group.” (Id. ¶¶ 99–106.)    

The Slattery Defendants filed their Answer that contained, inter alia, the following 

affirmative defenses: “privilege to act as attorney and agent of client” (“First Affirmative 

Defense”),“litigation privilege” (“Second Affirmative Defense”), Noerr-Pennington doctrine 

(“Third Affirmative Defense”), “void or voidable contracts” (“Fourth Affirmative Defense”), 

unclean hands doctrine (“Fifth Affirmative Defense”), “release/waiver/estoppel doctrine” 

(“Seventh Affirmative Defense”), “privilege for legal advice” (“Ninth Affirmative Defense”), 

“lack of due process” (“Tenth Affirmative Defense”), and lack of standing as to Plaintiffs SVC-

Hawaii, LLC, SVC-Americana, LLC, and Shell Vacations, LLC (“Eleventh, Twelfth, and 

Thirteenth Affirmative Defenses,” respectively). (Doc. 44 at 13–16.) Plaintiffs now move to strike 

these affirmative defenses. (Doc. 55.)  
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II. LEGAL STANDARD  

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(b) provides that when a party responds to a pleading, 

it must “state in short and plain terms its defenses to each claim asserted against it.” Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 8(b)(1)(A). In turn, Rule 8(c) requires a party to “affirmatively state any avoidance or 

affirmative defense.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(c)(1). “The purpose of Rule 8(c) is simply to guarantee 

that the opposing party has notice of any additional issue that may be raised at trial so that he or 

she is prepared to properly litigate it.” Hassan v. U.S. Postal Serv., 842 F.2d 260, 263 (11th Cir. 

1988). 

Pursuant to Rule 12(f), “[t]he court may strike from a pleading an insufficient defense 

or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). A 

motion to strike should only be granted if “the matter sought to be omitted has no possible 

relationship to the controversy, may confuse the issues, or otherwise prejudice a party.” Reyher 

v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 881 F. Supp. 574, 576 (M.D. Fla. 1995). Here, Plaintiffs have 

moved to strike the Slattery Defendants’ affirmative defenses.  

 “By its very definition, ‘[a]n affirmative defense is established only when a defendant 

admits the essential facts of a complaint and sets up other facts in justification or avoidance.’ 

Thus, a defense which simply points out a defect or lack of evidence in a plaintiff’s case is not 

an affirmative defense.” Morrison v. Exec. Aircraft Refinishing, Inc., 434 F. Supp. 2d 1314, 

1318 (S.D. Fla. 2005) (quoting Will v. Richardson–Merrell, Inc., 647 F. Supp. 544, 547 (S.D. Ga. 

1986)). Further, “‘[a]n affirmative defense is generally a defense that, if established, requires 

judgment for the defendant even if the plaintiff can prove his case by a preponderance of the 

evidence.’” Luxottica Grp. S.P.A. v. Cash Am. E., Inc., 198 F. Supp. 3d 1327, 1328 (M.D. Fla. 

2016) (citing Wright v. Southland Corp., 187 F.3d 1287, 1303 (11th Cir. 1999)). If a defendant 
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“mislabels a denial as an affirmative defense, the proper remedy is not to strike the claim, but 

rather to treat it as a specific denial.” Berman v. Kafka, No. 3:13-cv-1109-J-JBT, 2014 WL 

12616999, at *1 (M.D. Fla. May 5, 2014) (quoting Grovenor House, L.L.C. v. E.I. Du Pont De 

Nemours & Co., No. 09-21698-Civ., 2010 WL 3212066, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 12, 2010) 

(internal quotations omitted)). 

Although “an affirmative defense may be stricken if it is legally insufficient, … striking a 

defense is a drastic remedy, which is disfavored by the courts.” Adams v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 

N.A., No. 3:11-cv-337-J-37MCR, 2011 WL 2938467, at *1 (M.D. Fla. July 21, 2011) (citations 

and internal quotation marks omitted); see also Somerset Pharm., Inc. v. Kimball, 168 F.R.D. 69, 

71 (M.D. Fla. 1996) (stating that motions to strike are not favored and are often considered time 

wasters). “‘An affirmative defense is insufficient as a matter of law only if: (1) on the face of the 

pleadings, it is patently frivolous, or (2) it is clearly invalid as a matter of law.’” Adams, 2011 WL 

2938467, at *1 (quoting Microsoft Corp. v. Jesse’s Computs. & Repair, Inc., 211 F.R.D. 681, 683 

(M.D. Fla. 2002)). 

III. DISCUSSION 

Plaintiffs argue that the bulk of the Slattery Defendants’ Affirmative Defenses should be 

stricken for various pleading deficiencies, such as failure to allege sufficient facts to support the 

affirmative defense or failure to set forth a legally cognizable affirmative defense. (See Doc. 55.) 

The Slattery Defendants disagree. (Doc. 68.) Upon consideration, the Court finds that the Motion 

should be denied as to the First, Second, Third, Eleventh, Twelfth, and Thirteenth Affirmative 

Defenses, while the Fourth, Fifth, Seventh, Ninth, and Tenth Affirmative Defenses should be 

stricken. However, the Court will grant the Slattery Defendants leave to replead the stricken 

affirmative defenses, consistent with this Order. 
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A. First Affirmative Defense: Privilege To Act as Agent 

For the First Affirmative Defense, the Slattery Defendants assert that they performed 

“privileged act[s] as attorney and agent of client.” (Doc. 44 at 13.) Specifically, the Slattery 

Defendants allege that they  

were retained by certain timeshare owners who were already 
predisposed to terminate their contracts with the Plaintiffs. Further, 
[the Slattery] Defendants, having been retained to provide legal 
services on behalf of certain timeshare owners burdened by 
unconscionable contractual provisions in contracts procured 
through inappropriate methods, were not outsiders. 

 
(Id. at 13.) Plaintiffs argue that the First Affirmative Defense should be stricken because it 

“conflate[s] multiple defenses into one,” and each defense fails on its own. (Doc. 55 at 3–4.) 

Plaintiffs also argue that the privilege to interfere with the contractual relationship between 

Plaintiffs and the timeshare owners is a “denial of . . . [the] tortious interference claim.” (Id. at 4.) 

It is the Slattery Defendants’ position that the First Affirmative Defense would undermine the third 

element of Plaintiffs’ tortious interference and civil conspiracy counts, which is “intentional and 

unjustified interference with the business relationship.” (Doc. 68 at 2–3.) In support, they cite to 

O.E. Smith’s Sons, Inc. v. George, 545 So. 2d 298, 299 (1st Fla. DCA 1989), wherein Florida’s 

First District Court of Appeal explains that “for the interference to be unjustified, the defendant 

must be a third party, external to the business relationship.” The Court finds that the Slattery 

Defendants’ argument has merit. 

Contrary to what Plaintiffs assert, there is only one defense alleged in the First Affirmative 

Defense: the “privileged act[s] as attorney and agent of client.” Allegations about the 

“unconscionable” timeshare contractual provisions or the predisposition of the timeshare owners 

to leave their contracts were not attempts to add multiple defenses under the First Affirmative 
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Defense. At most, they serve to color the circumstances surrounding the Slattery Defendants’ 

relationship with their timeshare owner clients.  

The privilege to act is also not a denial. The Slattery Defendants admit that they helped the 

timeshare owners exit the contracts, but argue that such acts are privileged. Moreover, “Florida 

courts generally hold that an agent cannot be held liable for tortiously interfering with the contract 

of his principal because the agent is privileged to act in the principal's best interest.” Orange Lake 

Country Club, Inc. v. Reed Hein & Assocs., LLC, 367 F. Supp. 3d 1360, 1369 (M.D. Fla. 2019) 

(citing Sloan v. Sax, 505 So. 2d 526, 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)). As such, the Court finds that the 

First Affirmative Defense is adequate as alleged and not due to be stricken. 

B. Second Affirmative Defense: Florida’s Litigation Privilege   

As their Second Affirmative Defense, the Slattery Defendants assert that “any 

correspondence with . . . Plaintiffs” on behalf of their timeshare owner clients, “were in 

anticipation of litigation and are [thus] afforded either absolute or qualified immunity pursuant to 

Florida’s litigation privilege.” (Doc. 44 at 13–14.) Plaintiffs argue that the litigation privilege does 

not “apply to pre-suit demand letters that are not a necessary condition precedent to filing suit.” 

(Doc. 55 at 5.) In support, Plaintiffs cite a string of cases from this District that concluded that the 

defendants were not entitled to raise a litigation privilege affirmative defense. (Id.) (citing Trent v. 

Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., Inc., 618 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1361 (M.D. Fla. 2007); Orange Lake 

Country Club, Inc., 367 F. Supp. 3d at 1372; Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. Sussman, 387 F. Supp. 3d 

1318, 1353 (M.D. Fla. 2019)). The Slattery Defendants argue that striking this Affirmative 

Defense would be premature. (Doc. 68 at 4 n.1). In their view, the applicability of this defense 

cannot be determined until Plaintiffs “reveal which contracts were purportedly interfered with and 

the specific acts which constitute the alleged interference.”  (Id.) 
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“Florida’s litigation privilege affords absolute immunity for acts or statements during the 

course of judicial proceedings if they have some relation to the proceeding.” Orange Lake Country 

Club, 367 F. Supp. 3d at 1372 (citing Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, 

P.A. v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co., 639 So. 2d 606, 607–608 (Fla. 1994)) (emphasis added).  

This rule of privilege as applied to statements made in the course of 
judicial proceedings is not restricted to trials of actions, but includes 
proceedings before a competent court or magistrate in the due course 
of law or administration of justice which is to result in any 
determination or action by such court or officer. This privilege 
extends to the protection of the judge, parties, counsel, and 
witnesses, and arises immediately upon the doing of any act required 
or permitted by law in the due course of the judicial proceeding or 
as necessarily preliminary thereto. 
 

Ange v. State, 98 Fla. 538, 123 So. 916, 917 (Fla. 1929). “Statements ‘necessarily preliminary’ to 

judicial proceedings include pre-suit communications required by statute or by contract as a 

condition precedent to suit.” Orange Lake Country Club, 367 F. Supp. 3d at 1372 (citing  Pledger 

v. Burnup & Sims, Inc., 432 So. 2d 1323, 1326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)). 

A plain reading of the Answer reveals that the scope of the Second Affirmative Defense is 

limited to pre-litigation communications, and not related to the prosecution or defense of a legal 

action. (See Doc. 44 at 13.) Thus, these communications may by covered by litigation privilege 

only if they were “necessarily preliminary” communications. The Slattery Defendants allege that 

“any correspondence with Plaintiffs[] were in anticipation of litigation” (Doc. 44 at 13). At this 

stage, it would be premature for the Court to determine whether these communications were 

“necessarily preliminary.” Suffice it to say that, on the face of the pleadings, the affirmative 

defense is not patently frivolous or clearly invalid as a matter of law. Therefore, the Motion will 

be denied as to the Second Affirmative Defense.  
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C. Third Affirmative Defense: Noerr-Pennington Doctrine 

The Slattery Defendants raise a Noerr-Pennington Doctrine 1  defense for the Third 

Affirmative Defense. Plaintiffs argue that because other courts have rejected this doctrine as a 

basis to escape liability in analogous cases, the Court should also strike the Affirmative Defense 

here. (Doc. 55 at 6) (citing cases against timeshare exit companies in which the courts found that 

the Noerr-Pennington Doctrine was inapplicable). However, as the Slattery Defendants correctly 

point out, those courts rejected the application of the Noerr-Pennington Doctrine at the summary 

judgment stage, when the court had evidence alongside the pleadings to determine whether the 

doctrine should apply. Thus, the Court finds that it would be premature to strike this affirmative 

defense at this stage.  

D. Fourth Affirmative Defense: Voidable Contracts 
 

In their Fourth Affirmative Defense, the Slattery Defendants affirmatively allege that the 

contracts that the timeshare owners entered with Plaintiffs were acquired through “fraud, 

misrepresentations, and inappropriate methods,” and are therefore void. (Doc. 44 at 14.) Factual 

allegations did not accompany these assertions. (Id.) Plaintiffs argue that striking the Fourth 

Affirmative Defense is appropriate because it falls short of the pleading requirements set forth in 

 
1 The Noerr-Pennington Doctrine arises from E. R. R. Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor 
Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127, 136–38, (1961). 
 

The Noerr doctrine derives from the First Amendment’s guarantee 
of “the right of the people... to petition the Government for a redress 
of grievances. The doctrine applies to persons who petition all types 
of government entities, including legislatures, administrative 
agencies, and courts. … Most pertinent here, the doctrine extends 
not only to petitioning of the judicial branch (i.e., filing a lawsuit), 
but also to acts reasonably attendant to litigation, such as demand 
letters. 
 

Silverhorse Racing, LLC v. Ford Motor Co., 232 F. Supp. 3d 1206, 1211 (M.D. Fla. 2017). 
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Rule 9. (Doc. 55 at 6–7.) In response, the Slattery Defendants do not dispute that their affirmative 

defense fails to comply with Rule 9, but claim that their pleading deficiencies were outside of their 

control. (Doc. 68 at 6–8.) They assert that they need information on either the contracts in question 

or the identities of timeshare owners that the Slattery Defendants allegedly induced to breach their 

contracts with Plaintiffs before they can explain “why any specific unidentified owner was entitled 

to void his or her contract.” (Id. at 8.)  

Rule 9 provides that when a party “alleg[es] fraud or mistake, [that] party must state with 

particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other 

conditions of a person’s mind may be alleged generally.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). As the Slattery 

Defendants do not refute that the Fourth Affirmative Defense does not comply with Rule 9 (see 

Doc. 68 at 8), the Court finds that it is due to be stricken. See United Fixtures Co. v. Base Mfg., 

No. 6:08-CV-506-Orl-28GJK, 2008 WL 4550212, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 8, 2008) (“An affirmative 

defense that simply contains conclusory allegations is improper.”).  

E. Fifth Affirmative Defense: Unclean Hands  

The Slattery Defendants raise an unclean hands defense in the Fifth Affirmative Defense. 

Specifically, they allege that “Plaintiffs exploited and/or defrauded vulnerable and disadvantaged 

consumers by using high pressure, abusive, procedurally cohesive, hours long, hard-sell timeshare 

sales presentations and false and intentionally misleading representations to obtain those owners 

signature on contracts.” (Doc. 44 at 15.) Plaintiffs argue that this affirmative defense fails because 

the Slattery Defendants do not allege how they were personally injured by Plaintiffs’ conduct. 

(Doc. 55 at 7.) Once again, the Slattery Defendants do not directly refute Plaintiffs’ arguments; 

instead, they simply contend that Plaintiffs’ “past misconduct should preclude them from being 

awarded equitable relief.” (Doc. 68 at 9.)  
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It is true that the unclean hands doctrine forecloses a plaintiff’s entitlement to equitable 

relief. Royal Palm Properties, LLC v. Premier Estate Properties, Inc., No. 10-80232-CV, 2010 

WL 3941745, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 6, 2010) (quoting ABF Freight Sys., Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 510 U.S. 

317, 329–30 (1994)) (“The unclean hands doctrine closes the door of a court of equity to one 

tainted with inequitableness or bad faith relative to the matter in which he seeks relief, however 

improper may have been the behavior of the defendant.”). However, the alleged wrongdoing of 

Plaintiffs does not bar relief unless the Slattery Defendants can demonstrate that they personally 

have been injured by Plaintiffs’ conduct. Royal Palm Properties, LLC, 2010 WL 3941745, at *2; 

see also Leeward v. Galaxy Cable, Inc., No. 5:05-CV-303-Oc-10GRJ, 2006 WL 2868928, at *6 

(M.D. Fla. Oct. 6, 2006) (“A defendant asserting unclean hands as a defense must demonstrate … 

that defendant was personally injured by plaintiff's conduct.”); Branch Banking & Tr. Co. v. Park 

Circle, LLC, No. 2:13-CV-25-FtM-38CM, 2014 WL 1870606, at *5 (M.D. Fla. May 8, 2014) 

(citing Calloway v. Partners Nat. Health Plans, 986 F.2d 446, 450–51 (11th Cir.1993)) (A 

“plaintiff's wrongdoing does not bar relief unless the defendant can show that [he] was personally 

injured by [the] conduct.”). As such, “[a] mere assertion that a party has unclean hands without 

supporting facts is insufficient.” Leeward, 2006 WL 2868928, at *6. Therefore, the Court will 

strike the Fifth Affirmative Defense.  

F. Seventh Affirmative Defense: Release, Waiver, and Estoppel  

The Slattery Defendants’ Seventh Affirmative Defense consists of a single sentence, 

devoid of any factual allegations, stating that they are asserting the doctrines of “release and waiver 

and estoppel.” (Doc. 44 at 16.) First, it is improper to combine multiple affirmative defenses in 

this manner. Second, assertion fails to meet the pleading standards under Rule 8. U.S. ex rel. BAC 

Funding Consortium, Inc. v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co., No. 13-22536-CIV, 2014 WL 186125, at 
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*5 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 16, 2014) (striking an affirmative defense as conclusory since it was devoid of 

factual allegations that would provide the plaintiff notice of the basis that was being asserted). 

Therefore, the Court will strike the Seventh Affirmative Defense. 

G. Ninth Affirmative Defense: Privilege for Legal Advice  

The Ninth Affirmative Defense also is one sentence unsupported by any factual allegations. 

The Slattery Defendants assert that “to the extent Plaintiffs’ cause of action against these 

Defendants is premised upon legal advice to breach a contract, any such advice would be 

privileged.” (Doc. 44 at 16.) Plaintiffs claim there are two issues with this defense: first it is not 

supported by any factual allegations, and second, it is duplicative of the First Affirmative Defense. 

(Doc. 55 at 8.) In response, the Slattery Defendants do not refute Plaintiffs’ assertion that the 

affirmative defense does not comply with Rule 8. (Doc. 68) However, they attempt to distinguish 

the First Affirmative Defense from the Ninth Affirmative Defense. 

The Slattery Defendants explain that the First Affirmative Defense is limited to their 

actions during the course of their representation of the timeshare owner clients, while the Ninth 

Affirmative Defense is limited to the advice given to the time share owner clients. (Doc. 68 at 10–

11.) As with their actions undertaken during the course of their representation, the Slattery 

Defendants contend that they cannot be held liable for the advice they gave their timeshare owner 

clients. (Doc. 68 at 10.) The Slattery Defendants rely on Westgate Resorts, Ltd., 387 F. Supp. 3d 

at 1351 to support their argument. However, the Court reads Westgate Resorts as finding that the 

attorney privilege encompasses acts done by and advice given by an attorney. Thus, the Ninth 

Affirmative Defense is duplicative of the First Affirmative Defense and is due to be stricken.  
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H. Tenth Affirmative Defense: Due Process Right to Present Evidence  

In the Tenth Affirmative Defense, the Slattery Defendants claim that the nature of this 

action violates their due process right to present evidence because any evidence they would present 

to refute Plaintiffs’ allegations is protected by the attorney-client privilege. (Doc. 44 at 16.) The 

Slattery Defendants also note that as attorneys, they cannot waive the privilege. (Id.) Plaintiffs 

argue that this issue is an evidentiary matter, and not an affirmative defense. (Doc. 55 at 8–9.) In 

response, the Slattery Defendants rely on a string of cases from California. (Doc. 68 at 12) (citing 

to McDermott, Will & Emery v. Superior Court, 83 Cal. App. 4th 378 (2000); Reilly v. Greenwald 

& Hoffman, LLP, 196 Cal. App. 4th 891 (2011); Solin v. O’Melveny & Meyers, LLP, 89 Cal. App. 

4th 451 (2001)). The Court finds that these cases are inapplicable to the instant case.  

Both Reilly and Solin rely upon the analysis and ultimate holding in McDermott. There, the 

California Court of Appeal held that a shareholder may not sue its corporation’s outside counsel 

in a derivative action for legal malpractice. McDermott, 83 Cal. App. 4th 378, 384–85. The 

McDermott Court explained that “because a derivative action does not result in the corporation’s 

waiver of the privilege, such a lawsuit against the corporation’s outside counsel has the dangerous 

potential for robbing the attorney defendant of the only means he or she may have to mount any 

meaningful defense.” Id. at 384.  

McDermott, which is not controlling, or even persuasive authority, is easily 

distinguishable. This case is not a derivative action, but instead an action for false advertisement 

and tortious interference. (Am. Compl., Doc. 36.) In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that 

the Slattery Defendants “have utilized improper, fraudulent, and/or illegal means to interfere with 

Plaintiffs’ contractual relations” (Id. ¶ 205), which opens an attorney to liability for assisting and 

advising the client to break the contract. See Westgate, 387 F. Supp. 3d at 1352 (citing First Fin. 
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USA, Inc. v. Steinger, 760 So. 2d 996, 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)). Absent proper legal support, the 

Court finds that the Tenth Affirmative Defense is due to be stricken.  

I. Eleventh, Twelfth and Thirteenth Affirmative Defenses: Lack of Standing  

As to the Eleventh, Twelfth, and Thirteenth Affirmative Defenses, the Slattery Defendants 

assert that Plaintiffs SVC-Hawaii, LLC, SVC-Americana, LLC, and Shell Vacations, LLC 

(collectively, the “LLC Plaintiffs”) do not have standing to bring this action because they do not 

have a certificate of authority to transact business in Florida. (Doc. 44 at 17.) In the body of these 

Affirmative Defenses, the Slattery Defendants cite to Florida Statute § 605.0904(1), a “door-

closing statute,” which provides that a foreign limited liability company “may not maintain an 

action or proceeding in this state unless it has a certificate of authority to transact business in this 

state.” (Id.) Plaintiffs do not refute the assertion that the LLC Plaintiffs lack a certificate of 

authority to transact business in Florida. (Doc. 55 at 9.) They also vaguely assert that 

“[m]aintaining, defending, or settling any court proceeding is not considered to be transacting 

business.” (Id.) (citing Spa Creek Services, LLC v. S.W. Cole, Inc., 239 So. 3d 730, 736 (Fla. 5th 

DCA 2017)) (internal citations omitted). The Slattery Defendants, in response, point to Sream Inc. 

v. HHM Enterprise Partners, Inc., No. 16-CV-62641, 2017 WL 6408999, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 8, 

2017), to establish that this is a properly asserted affirmative defense. The Court agrees with the 

Slattery Defendants. 

“The Florida courts hold the failure to comply with the Florida [door-closing] statute is an 

affirmative defense to an action by a foreign corporation.” Baker Cty. Med. Servs., Inc. v. Summit 

Smith L.L.C., No. 3:05-CV-541-J-33HTS, 2007 WL 1229702, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 25, 2007) 

(quoting Norman M. Morris Corp. v. Weinstein, 466 F.2d 137, 142 (5th Cir.1972)) (internal 

quotations omitted). The door closing statutes that require a certificate of authority to transact 
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business in order to maintain court actions in Florida “only apply when the foreign corporation is 

actively transacting business.” Spa Creek Servs., LLC, 239 So. 3d at 735–36 (citing Selepro, Inc. 

v. Church, 17 So.3d 1267, 1270 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). “Maintaining, defending, or settling any 

court proceeding is not considered to be transacting business.” Id. at 736. 

As alleged, the LLC Plaintiffs do more than maintain, defend, or settle court proceedings 

in Florida, which would mean that the door closing statute would be applicable in the instant case. 

Accordingly, the Motion will be denied as to the Eleventh, Twelfth, and Thirteenth Affirmative 

Defenses.  

IV. CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that the Motion (Doc. 55) is GRANTED IN PART 

AND DENIED IN PART as follows: 

1. The Motion is GRANTED to the extent that the Fourth, Fifth, Seventh, Ninth, and 

Tenth Affirmative Defenses are STRICKEN. On or before November 30, 2020, the 

Slattery Defendants may file an amended Answer that corrects the pleading 

deficiencies outlined in this Order.  

2. The Motion is DENIED in all other respects. 

DONE and ORDERED in Orlando, Florida on November 6, 2020. 

                                                                                                 

 
 
Copies furnished to: 
 
Counsel of Record 
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